SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

ECHEVARRIA, McCALLA, RAYMER, CASE NO.: SC05-564 BARRETT & FRAPPIER, a Florida L.T. CASE NO.: 1D02-4746 general partnership, et. al.,

1D02-4982

Petitioners,

vs.

BRADLEY COLE, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Respondent.

BRIEF ON THE MERITS BY PETITIONERS, ECHEVARRIA, McCALLA, RAYMER, BARRETT & FRAPPIER, et. al.

____/

ON REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

> JOHN BERANEK Fla. Bar No. 0005419 Ausley & McMullen 227 South Calhoun Street P.O. Box 391 (zip 32302) Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (850) 224-9115 - telephone (850) 222-7560 - facsimile

Attorneys for Petitioners

ISSUES ON REVIEW

- I. THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED AND CREATED CONFLICT IN HOLDING THAT THE COMMON LAW "JUDICIAL IMMUNITY RULE" PREVIOUSLY ACCEPTED IN FLORIDA COURTS HAS NO APPLICATION TO A STATUTORY CAUSE OF ACTION.
- II. ALTHOUGH CLASS CERTIFICATION SHOULD HAVE BEEN TOTALLY DENIED BASED ON THE "JUDICIAL IMMUNITY RULE," THE DISTRICT COURT FURTHER ERRED IN GREATLY EXPANDING THE DEFINITION OF THE CLASS AS FOUND IN THE EXERCISE OF THE TRIAL COURT'S DISCRETION BASED ON THE "JUDICIAL IMMUNITY RULE."

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The rulings of the First District are matters of law and are to be reviewed de novo.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This Court has accepted jurisdiction to review the opinion issued by the First District Court of Appeal on December 30, 2004, in Case Number 1D02-4746 and 1D02-4982. These two case numbers were consolidated cases before the District Court. The trial court entered a class certification order on November 8, 2002, and both sides filed notices of appeal directed to that order. (A. V.14 Tab 256 and 258). The plaintiff contended the class definition was in error and should be greatly expanded. The defendants contended that class certification was completely erroneous and in the alternative, that the class definition was a proper exercise of the trial court's discretion.

Since the appeals were taken under Rule 9.130(a)(3)(c)(vi)from the certification order, the record before the district court of appeal consisted of an appendix pursuant to Rule 9.130(e) rather than a normal Clerk's record. Both sides agreed to use the same appendix. The Clerk of the First District Court of Appeal has advised undersigned counsel that this appendix, along with the briefs, will be filed with this Court pursuant to the order accepting jurisdiction and requiring the Clerk to file the "original record" with this Court. Thus all record references herein will be to the Appendix. These references will be as follows: (A. Tab._____p.___). The appendix is extensive and contains 14 volumes and over 4,500 pages.

This is a petition for review of the First District Court of Appeal's decision announced in its opinion of December 30, 2004, with rehearing granted in part and denied in part in subsequent orders. Rendition occurred on March 21, 2005.

The case in the circuit court is an alleged class action concerning the attempted collection by a law firm of costs in mortgage foreclosure actions. The petitioners herein are the defendant Echevarria and the Echevarria law firm which was a firm engaged in a modern and streamlined mortgage foreclosure practice. In this brief all of the petitioners, including Mr. Echevarria individually, are referred to as "Echevarria." The respondent is Mr. Bradley Cole who is a former bank vicepresident who took affirmative steps to contact the Echevarria Law Firm because he knew his mortgage was in default. At Cole's request, Echevarria sent him a February 3, 1998 reinstatement letter listing the expenses and other sums that had to be paid by Cole to reinstate his mortgage and avoid foreclosure. (A. V.14 Tab 249 p.3). The respondent will be referred to herein as "Plaintiff" or "Cole."

The case, as litigated so far, concerns collection of costs in mortgage foreclosure cases in which the Echevarria firm represented the lender banks in their attempts at foreclosing the mortgages. The Echevarria firm specialized in mortgage foreclosure work and handled thousands of such cases. SunTrust

Bank routinely hired the Echevarria firm to foreclose on hundreds of home mortgages and this representation occurred without a formal written contract on each case. In January of 1998, SunTrust requested Echevarria to begin proceedings to foreclose on a mortgage on a home owned by Mr. Bradley Cole. (A. V.3 Tab 84 p.10 of attached Complaint). On February 3, 1998, Echevarria sent Cole a reinstatement letter which included the \$325 amount for a title examination and title search as costs incurred by the bank. (A. V.4 Tab 105 Exhibit E). The \$325 amount became the centerpiece of this litigation and the trial court entered a summary judgment against Echevarria on the issue before entering the class certification order. (A. V10 Tab 215 p.1-11).

There are a multitude of issues presented by the case but this brief is limited to the issues surrounding the Judicial Immunity Rule and the class definition resulting from the application or nonapplication of that common law Rule.

Mr. Cole asked for a reinstatement letter from the Echevarria firm advising him of what he had to pay to redeem his mortgage which was in default. Mr. Cole received the February 3, 1998, letter which was an offer to settle for less than the full accelerated principal amount, which could have been claimed. Cole paid every cent almost by return mail with a certified check. (A. V.14 Tab 249 p.4). Later discussions

resulted in a \$700 refund to Cole and reinstatement of the mortgage. (A. V.14 Tab 249 p.5).

Because Echevarria was a modern law firm doing a volume of thousands of mortgage foreclosure cases the firm had developed an in-house staff of attorneys and title examiners to do the title examination and title search work. The firm initially secured basic title information from an outside source for approximately \$55. (A. V.6 Tab 15 p.1-4). Further title search and title examination work was then done by the firm in-house and the bank was charged \$325 for these services by the firm. The bank would routinely pay this \$325 amount (the amounts were not always the same) to the Echevarria firm and in the mortgage foreclosure case, Echevarria would attempt to collect this \$325 amount from the delinquent homeowner/mortgagor and refund it to the bank. (A. V.6 Tab 151 p.1-4). Echevarria never attempted to collect more from the homeowner than he had charged to the bank.

Plaintiff Cole contended, and the trial court ruled, that this in-house cost was an illegal charge and could not be charged to the debtor unless it had been paid out by the Echevarria firm to a third-party vendor. (A. V.10 Tab 215 p.10). The \$325 was a reasonable charge for the title work in question and the only issue was the fact that the title services were performed in-house within the Echevarria firm rather than

having paid the same amount of money to a third-party vendor. The sum of \$55 dollars had actually been paid to an outside title company. The trial court found Echevarria liable on summary judgment for a knowing attempt to collect on illegal charges. (A. V.10 Tab 215 p.10). Mr. Echevarria testified that he certainly did not have actual knowledge that his attempt to collect these in-house charges was illegal. (A. V.5 Tab 124 p.1-5; Tab 125 p.1-2; Tab 126 p.1-4, V.8 Tab 191 p.17-20, 31, 39, 40, 47, 50, 51, 53, 54, 64, 77, 78, 97, 101-3, 127,155,161). Mr. Echevarria gave his opinion as a very experienced lawyer that it was perfectly legal to charge the bank for these inhouse services and then to attempt to collect this as an incurred cost on behalf of his bank client. The validity of the \$325 amount for title examination and title search was apparently never litigated in any of the mortgage foreclosure cases.

The circuit court relied upon its own summary judgment findings in certifying the class of all borrowers who received a reinstatement letter seeking similar costs. However, the court ruled that it was limiting the class to persons whose cases had not gone to an actual judgment because the court wanted to avoid the application of the Judicial Immunity Rule which would have protected Echevarria from liability even if the \$325 amount had been false.

The Judicial Immunity Rule is often referred to as a "litigation immunity privilege" and the primary Florida case on the doctrine is Levin, Middlebrooks, Mabie, Thomas, Mayes & Mitchell, P.A. v. United States Fire Ins. Co., 639 So. 2d 606 (Fla. 1994). Simply stated the rule is that participants in litigation, including the attorneys, have no later liability for statements or acts made preliminary to or during the judicial proceedings if such statements or acts are relevant to the proceeding. Settlement negotiations are included within the privilege protection. The Immunity Rule applies even if an attorney makes false and malicious statements so long as they are relevant to the case.

The Rule is most often applied in defamation, libel and slander cases where an attorney or a party makes a false statement in prior litigation. However, <u>Levin</u> was an expansion of the rule to cover intentional <u>acts</u> in litigation which were done to harm a law firm.

The <u>Levin</u> decision was issued on a certified question from the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals and that court has now expressly held that the Florida "Litigation Privilege" applies in cases based on statutory violations. <u>Jackson v. BellSouth</u> <u>Telecommunications</u>, 372 F.3d (11th Cir. 2004). <u>Jackson</u> will be discussed in detail hereafter in the argument section of this brief.

There has never been any indication that the Florida Legislature has intended to abolish the common law immunity rule. Thus, it was Echevarria's position that even if the \$325 charges mentioned in the letter to Cole had been inaccurate, the absolute litigation immunity privilege would bar Echevarria's liability growing out of the reinstatement letter. Ιt is unquestioned that the letter was preliminary to a mortgage foreclosure action against Cole and it was obviously a settlement proposal. It is also unquestioned that there were mistakes in this "form letter" which was sent to Cole early and in anticipation of the foreclosure action. An amount was stated covering service of process and it was clear that the foreclosure complaint had not even been filed at the time of the letter. Obviously service of process had not yet occurred. These were mistakes which Echevarria admitted to and which he remedied. A \$700 refund was paid to Cole and the foreclosure case was dismissed. (A. V.14 Tab 249 p.3). Although there were admitted mistakes in the letter, the \$325 in title search and examination charges was not a mistake and Echevarria swore it absolutely correct. In any event, if the litigation was immunity privilege had been applied, Echevarria was protected from liability growing out of the letter even if it was intentionally inaccurate, which it was not.

There were four cases pending before the First District Court of Appeal growing out of this class action which is still only in its beginning stages. These cases were 1D02-4746 and 4982, concerning the class certification order; 1D02-3818 seeking certiorari review of the partial summary judgment against Echevarria; and 1D03-1686, an appeal from certain judgments on attorneys fees. Attorneys fees are not an issue in petition for review. The opinion in the this class certification appeal affirmed in part and reversed in part based on appeals by both sides. The court affirmed certification but reversed the definition of the class and greatly expanded that definition to include everyone who had been sent a letter from the Echevarria firm seeking to recover costs based on in-house services by the firm and various other charges which have not yet been litigated. The court further ordered that the language of the class definition be changed by deleting the exclusion of cases which went to judgment or sale.

It must be noted that the class certification order of November 8, 2002, <u>does not mention</u> or address the Judicial Immunity Rule in any way whatsoever. (A. V.14 Tab 249 p.1-19). However, the First District Court of Appeal directly addressed and reversed upon issues concerning the Judicial Immunity Rule which were not actually within the class certification order it was supposed to be reviewing.

All of the trial court's rulings on the Judicial Immunity Rule were contained in the court's Partial Summary Judgment order of August 22, 2002. (A. V.10 Tab 215 p.1-11). This was a summary judgment entered in favor of Cole on the \$325 issues without a motion for summary judgment even being filed by Cole and in the face of Echevarria's sworn denials of his own guilty knowledge as to the illegality of the \$325 charge. (A. V.5 Tab 125 p.2).

The Partial Summary Judgment order was before the First District Court of Appeal in Echevarria's Petition for Certiorari (Case No. 1D02-3818) which was directed to that order. The First District "dismissed" the Petition for Certiorari on jurisdictional grounds holding that "the threshold requirement of showing irreparable harm" had not been met. See <u>Echevarria</u> <u>et al. v. Cole</u>, 896 So. 2d 779 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004). Despite dismissing certiorari without reaching the merits, the court reversed the trial court's rulings regarding the Judicial Immunity Rule in its opinion on the class certification order. Both rulings occurred on the same day and Echevarria's motions for rehearing on both rulings were denied without comment.

The trial court had ruled that the Judicial Immunity Rule would apply to protect Echevarria if a final judgment of foreclosure had been issued in any of the mortgage foreclosure cases. For that reason the trial court defined the class to

exclude the cases where foreclosure judgments were actually issued. The First District reversed this ruling in the summary judgment order.

Most importantly, the District Court ruled that the Judicial Immunity Rule can have no application whatsoever to a statutory claim. Under these somewhat irregular circumstances, Echevarria has no choice but to seek review and reversal of the only reviewable decision by the First District which is the opinion reported in <u>Echevarria v. Cole</u>, 896 So. 2d 773 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeal created conflict in holding that the Judicial Immunity Rule also known as the absolute litigation privilege could not be applied to a statutory cause of action. Other Florida courts have held directly to the contrary. Litigation immunity is a very old common law concept which forms a part of Florida's statutory law by virtue of Florida's adoption of the English common law in existence prior to July of 1776. There is no indication that the Florida Legislature has every intended to abrogate the time honored and well established judicial immunity doctrine.

This case concerns a letter written by a law firm on behalf of its bank client in a mortgage foreclosure case. Plaintiffs assert and defendant Echevarria agrees that the letter claimed

\$325 in in-house costs for title work. The law firm did title work in-house and then charged its bank client for the in-house services. The bank, through its counsel Echevarria, then attempted to recover this same amount as an incurred cost against the debtor in the foreclosure action.

The law firm relied upon the Litigation Immunity Rule and contended it could not be lible for the reinstatement letter even if it were false, which it was not. The First District Court of Appeal held that a suit brought under certain Florida Statutes regarding debt collection practices barred reliance on the Judicial Immunity Rule. The court concluded that this common law rule adopted as a statute in Florida could not be applied to any statutory cause of action. Other Florida courts have held directly to the contrary as have the federal courts. Substantial case law does apply the Immunity Rule in suits alleging a statutory violation. The First District's holding that the privilege has no application to a statutory claim is error and should be reversed. Such a reversal would absolve the defendant law firm from any liability as occurred in the Levin case.

In the alternative, the First District erred in substantially increasing the definition of the class adopted by the trial court based upon the trial court's application of the Judicial Immunity Rule.

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Art. V, § 3(b)(3), of the Florida Constitution based on direct conflict.

ARGUMENT

I. THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED AND CREATED CONFLICT IN HOLDING THAT THE COMMON LAW "JUDICIAL IMMUNITY RULE" PREVIOUSLY ACCEPTED IN FLORIDA COURTS HAS NO APPLICATION то Ά STATUTORY CAUSE OF ACTION.

This court has accepted review jurisdiction based on conflict with Boca Investors Group, Inc. v. Potash, 835 So. 2d 273 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002), where the Third District ruled directly contrary to the First District's opinion in the Echevarria case. The First District expressly ruled that the Judicial Immunity Rule cannot be applied to a statutory cause of action whereas the Third District ruled in Potash that a "statutory anti-trust claim was covered by the litigation privilege." In addition, we suggest that the First District's decision is also in conflict with this Court's landmark decision in Levin, Middlebrooks, Mabie, Thomas, Mayes & Mitchell P.A. v. United States Fire Ins. Co., 639 So. 2d 606 (Fla. 1994). Levin holds that "participants in judicial proceedings must be free from the fear of later civil liability as to anything said or written during litigation so as not to chill the actions of the participants in the immediate claim." Levin does not exclude suits based on a

statute and concludes that the privilege applies in all "subsequent civil actions for misconduct." Levin at p.608.

Levin further explains that remedies for misconduct, including false statements in litigation, do exist in Florida but they are the remedies for "perjury, slander, and the like committed during judicial proceedings." Levin at p.608. This Court noted that discipline for such conduct is in the hands of the circuit courts, and the Florida Bar. If Mr. Echevarria knowingly filed a false affidavit in a mortgage foreclosure case or sent a false reinstatement letter to a prospective defendant, then he is subject to the court's contempt power and, according to Levin, a compensatory fine as punishment.

Immunity Applies to Statutory Claims

We suggest that there has been significant error in the proceeding before the First District Court of Appeal but that many of those issues probably cannot be reached in this review proceeding. The district court dismissed Echevarria's petition for certiorari seeking review of a summary judgment against him while at the same time ruling against Echevarria in reversing the ruling on the Judicial Immunity Rule contained in the summary judgment order. The certiorari ruling in <u>Echevarria v</u>. <u>Cole</u>, 896 So. 2d 779 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004), states that the petition seeking review of the summary judgment against Echevarria failed to meet the threshold requirement of showing

irreparable harm and the petition was thus "dismissed" for lack of jurisdiction. The petitioner recognizes that this certiorari ruling is not subject to review because it is similar to a PCA and not in direct conflict with any other case. The certiorari dismissal also does not constitute a ruling on the merits. However, the District Court then went on in the class certification appeal and reversed a part of the rulings in the summary judgment order which were favorable to Echevarria.

The Third District Court of Appeal was correct in <u>Potash</u> in its holding that the Judicial Immunity Rule does apply to civil claims based upon a statute. The Judicial Immunity Rule is a part of early English common law and is firmly established in the United States and in Florida. The common law of England of a general nature has been adopted and declared to be of force in the state of Florida. See Section 2.01, Florida Statutes, as enacted in 1829. Unlike the federal system, Florida is a common law state and any statute at odds with the common law is to be strictly construed. See <u>McGraw v. R and R Investments, Ltd.</u>, 877 So. 2d 886 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004), and <u>In re: Levy's Estate</u>, 141 So. 2d 803 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962).

The Judicial Immunity Rule is an ancient concept stemming from the 1500's. In <u>Briscoe v. LaHue</u>, 460 U.S. 325 (1983), the United States Supreme Court dealt with a case brought by a plaintiff under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. The Court applied the

Judicial Immunity Rule to this <u>statutory</u> § 1983 claim and in doing so stated at p.1113:

The immunity of parties and witnesses from subsequent damages liability for their testimony in judicial proceedings was well established in English common law. Cutler v. Dixon, 76 Eng.Rep. 886 (K.B. 1585); Anfield v. Feverhill, 80 Eng.Rep. 1113 (K.B. 1614); Henderson v. Broomhead, 157 Eng.Rep. 964, 968; see Dawkins v. Lord Rokeby, 176 Eng.Rep. 800, 812 (C.P. 1866). Some American decisions required a showing that the witness's allegedly defamatory statements were relevant to the judicial proceedings, but once this threshold showing had been made, the witness had an absolute privilege.

The Supreme Court went on to expressly hold that as to private witnesses, § 1983 did not abrogate the absolute immunity existing at common law. Thus <u>Briscoe</u> was a United States Supreme Court case which applied the Judicial Immunity Rule to a statutory cause of action. We of course recognize that <u>Briscoe</u> spoke in terms of "defamation" but the Florida rule is considerably broader. See <u>Levin</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Jackson</u>, <u>supra</u>. <u>Briscoe</u> was cited to the First District Court of Appeal but the court chose not to address it.

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