IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

ECHEVARRIA, McCALLA, RAYMER, BARRETT & FRAPPIER, a Florida general partnership, et. al., CASE NO. SC05-564 L. T. CASE NOS. 1D02-4746 1D02-4982

Petitioners,

vs.

BRADLEY COLE, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS BY RESPONDENT, BRADLEY COLE

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

The CCPA and DUTPA would be ineffective if lawyers were exempt. Any business could make deceptive communications through its lawyer, and claim this practice was connected with potential future litigation. Congress found this loophole was detrimental to the purpose of the FDCPA in repealing the exemption for lawyers in 1986.

and that existing laws and procedures for redressing these injuries are inadequate to protect consumers. In determining whether a practice is deceptive under FDCPA, courts use standards of the Federal Trade Commission Act. Jeter v. Credit Bureau, Inc., 760 F.2d 1168 (11th Cir. 1985) (standard is whether the debt collection practice has a tendency to deceive the least sophisticated consumer).

When the statutes are clear, any applicable common law privilege must yield. Accordingly, even if Petitioners could show some rationale for a privilege, the Florida Legislature is competent to balance the relative harms and benefits, and subject lawyers' communications to debtors to the general remedy for deceptive consumer debt collection practices.

Petitioners argue their conduct is more appropriately addressed by Bar disciplinary action, but Bar regulation does not supplant substantive law governing the duties of persons (including lawyers) in billing for services. <u>See</u> Preamble to the Code of Professional Conduct. The Code does not authorize lawyers to mislead consumer debtors, contrary to law.¹⁰

The fact that Petitioners are regulated in their professional legal practice by The Florida Bar and this Court is not a free pass to violate a statute regulating commercial conduct. <u>See Heintz</u>, 514 U.S. 291, and other cases cited above applying the FDCPA. <u>See also Restatement 3d of the Law</u> <u>Governing Lawyers</u>, § 56 (stating that lawyers are liable to a non-client in circumstances where other persons are liable); <u>Id.</u> cmt. f ("Misrepresentation is not part of proper legal æsistance"); Id. cmt. j ("Some state consumer

¹⁰ Petitioners cite the newly amended Rule 4-1.5(b)(2)(F), which allows contracts to purchase lawyers' in-house services, but this rule does not allow a lawyer to pad invoices with expenses not needed or incurred, in the hope of foisting this expense onto an unknowing opponent. <u>Cf</u>. Rule 4-4.1 ("a lawyer shall not knowingly (a) make a false statement of material fact or law to a third person…").

protection statutes have been held applicable in whole or part to law practice"); <u>Id.</u> § 41 cmt. a ("Disciplinary authorities sanction lawyers for abusive fee collection methods.... Lawyers are subject to the restrictions on debt-collection provided by general law"); <u>Id.</u> § 98 ("A lawyer communicating on behalf of a client with a nonclient may not (1) knowing make a false statement prohibited by law; (2) make other statements prohibited by law;" . <u>And see U.S. v. Cueto</u>, 151 F.3d 620, 631-34 (7th Cir. 1998) (rejecting argument that "lawyers should be plucked gently from the madding crowd and sheltered from the rigors of 18 U.S.C. § 1503 [prohibiting obstruction of justice]... Attorneys, like all other persons, are not above the law....").

Debtors' enforcement of FDCPA remedies against lawyers who demand phony expense charges over the last 20 years (since the 1986 amendment) has not impaired lawyers' zealous advocacy in litigation. Granting the litigation privilege in this case would serve no practical purpose, as lawyers must still conform their conduct to the paramount federal law in FDCPA. The state statute provides that in the event of any inconsistency

between the state and federal law, the provision that is more protective of the consumer shall prevail. ¹¹

Petitioners are not free to use their licenses to practice law to evade statutes that clearly subject them to the same regulation as all others engaged in debt collection.

¹¹ Section 559.77(5) directs that "In applying and construing this section, due consideration and great weight shall be given to the interpretations of the Federal Trade Commission and the federal courts relating to the federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act." This guidance was added in 2001, but was not intended to change the pre-existing law. <u>See</u> 2001 Senate Staff Analysis of CS/SB 94, (CCPA presently applies to "all persons," citing <u>Sandlin</u>, above, 919 F.Supp. 1564, construing FDCPA to apply to lawyer's false statement of mortgage payoff amount) (App. 9).

III. THE FALSE REINSTATEMENT LETTERS ARE NOT SETTLEMENT OFFERS OR ATTORNEY WITNESS STATEMENTS THAT COULD BE PROTECTED BY THE LITIGATION PRIVILEGE.

Petitioners cannot avoid the statutory liability by mischaracterizing their false reinstatement letters as settlement offers or witness statements.

A false reinstatement letter is not privileged as a settlement offer. The Circuit Court obviously found Petitioners' reinstatement letters were not settlement offers. This is at least partly a factual ruling based on the parties' intent, the content and circumstances of the letters, and how debtors would reasonably perceive the letters. In requesting a reinstatement amount, the debtors were dependant on the Petitioners' veracity and were not yet in an adversary posture; by necessary implication under the mortgage, they had a right to expect accurate information in order to exercise their reinstatement rights. There was no discovery or other court process available to check the accuracy of the information, and there was nothing in the letters to put debtors "on guard" that the expenses claimed might be exaggerated or negotiable. The letter itself is an ultimatum, and does not offer any option to bargain or compromise the expenses. The Circuit Court's finding that this was not an offer of settlement is factually well supported. There is no basis to declare that the Circuit Court's factual finding is an error as a matter of law. This finding is consistent with the Florida federal court's view

rejecting an argument that mortgage reinstatement letters containing false "payoff fees" were privileged as "settlement communications" under the

Florida Evidence Code:

If this Court were to accept this argument it would in effect overrule Congress' express intent to include attorneys within the FDCPA. <u>Heintz</u>. If every letter which includes payoff amounts and reinstatement fees that is sent by an attorney engaged in the collection of debt is considered to be a settlement or negotiation offer, then all those letters would be excluded as inadmissible and the rights of the debtor to the protection offered by the FDCPA would be seriously hindered. This Court is not persuaded that providing a debtor with the amount of the debt owed is a settlement agreement. Settlement agreements protected by Fla. Stat. § 90.408 are "offers to compromise a claim." The definition of "compromise" is a "settlement of differences by mutual concessions," there were no concession in the amounts indicated in the letters sent by Defendants. (citing Black's Law Dictionary).

<u>Sandlin</u>, above, 919 F.Supp. at 1568-69. This reasoning applies to the instant reinstatement letters, which present unconditional demands, not offers to compromise or mutual concessions. <u>See also Minton v. Shaw</u>, 416 So.2d 3 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) (affirming trial court's determination that statement was not a settlement offer).

While the reinstatement letters are clearly not settlement offers, even if they were, the Supreme Court in <u>Heintz</u> held that a settlement offer attempting to collect false charges from consumer debtors is actionable under the FDCPA. It would defeat the purpose of the statute if parties could avoid statutory liability for deceptive practices by simply posturing the false expense claims as "settlement offers." <u>See Armstrong v. The Rose Firm</u> <u>P.A.</u>, 2002 U.S. Dist. Lexis 4039 (D. Minn. 2002).

The reinstatement letters are not privileged witness statements either. As an aspect of the litigation privilege, the Courts extend immunity to witnesses' statements in litigation. In <u>Briscoe v. Lahue</u>, 460 U.S. 325 (1983), a civil rights action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, the Supreme Court explained that without immunity, witnesses might be reluctant to come forward and testify, or might distort their testimony for fear of liability. The Court observed that witness immunity, coupled with the "crucible of the judicial process," is the path that would best lead to the ascertainment of truth. <u>Id.</u> at 330-34.

<u>Briscoe</u> is inapplicable here because the mortgage reinstatement letter is not sworn witness testimony in any judicial truth-seeking proceeding, but rather a statement outside the judicial process that attempts to deceive debtors on what they must pay to avoid the judicial process. Moreover, <u>Briscoe</u> is inapplicable where a statute specifically provides prohibitions and remedies for false statements. <u>See Heintz</u>, above, 514 U.S. 291, applying FDCPA. This issue was recently analyzed in <u>Todd v. Weltman, Weinberg &</u> <u>Reis Co. L.P.A.</u>, 434 F.3d 432 (6th Cir. 2006), which held the <u>Briscoe</u> reasons for witness immunity did not protect a lawyer who functioned as a complaining witness by filing a false statement in aid of garnishment, so the lawyer was subject to liability under the FDCPA. The Court observed that the purpose of immunity, to preserve the integrity of the judicial system, did not assist "a self-interested party who allegedly lies in an affidavit to initiate a garnishment proceeding." <u>Id. at 447.¹² And see Blevins v. Hudson &</u> <u>Keyse, Inc.</u>, 395 F.Supp.2d 662 (S.D. Ohio 2004) (lawyer's affidavit filed in collection action is not protected by witness immunity or litigation privilege from liability under FDCPA).

Petitioners cite <u>Beck v. Codilis & Stawiarske P.A.</u>, 2000 WL 34490402 (N.D. Fla. 2000), which involved a statement in litigation, not a mortgage reinstatement letter, so it cannot apply here. Moreover, <u>Beck</u> found the attorney's flat title search fee was both authorized by the

¹² <u>Todd</u> cites a series of decisions after <u>Briscoe</u> clarifying that absolute witness immunity does not apply to a "complaining witness" who gives false testimony. <u>Malley v. Briggs</u>, 475 U.S. 335 (1986), held that a police officer who made a malicious complaint without probable cause in seeking a warrant does not have absolute immunity. <u>Wyatt v. Cole</u>, 504 U.S. 158 (1992), held that a private plaintiff's false statements in an *ex parte* replevin action (analogous to debt collection) does not have absolute immunity. <u>Kalina v. Fletcher</u>, 522 U.S. 118 (1997), held that a prosecutor's vouching for the truth of unsworn false statements, which functioned not as legal advocacy but as testimony, does not have absolute immunity.

mortgagee's engagement of the attorney, and reasonable, so there was no false statement to the debtor. Here, the Circuit Court found the bank had not authorized the contested expenses that Petitioners tried to collect from debtors. (V10, T 215) In sum, <u>Beck</u> does not allow absolute immunity for lawyers-as-witnesses in all circumstances, and its factual findings do not create any kind of precedent in this case, especially where the District Court of Appeal necessarily found the Circuit Court's factual findings were supported and did not disturb them.

IV. THE EXPANDED CLASS DEFINITION IS BEYOND THE SCOPE OF THIS COURT'S ORDER GRANTING REVIEW.

Petitioners' merits brief point II argues that the District Court of Appeal usurped the Circuit Court's discretion, by directing that the class definition include debtors who did not pay the false reinstatement charges. This argument is beyond the scope of this Court's Order granting limited review (App. 4), and should not be considered at all.

The District Court of Appeal ruled properly in any case. It gave effect to the Circuit Court's factual findings, and redefined the class consistent with those findings. The Circuit Court did not have discretion to limit relief inconsistent with its own findings and should have adhered to the statutes and case law that clearly allow all consumer-debtors who receive attempted false claims bring claims, and be included in class actions.

As discussed in Point II above, the CCPA prohibits "attempts" to deceive and provides minimum statutory damages, which means reliance by the debtor is not required. <u>See also</u> federal cases certifying class actions under FDCPA on behalf of all debtors who were sent or received an offending communication, cited in Point II above.

Under DUTPA, consumers who receive claims that are "likely to deceive" need not plead and prove reliance to sue. <u>See Davis v. Powertel</u> Inc., 776 So.2d 971 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000) (class action certified despite class members' varying reliance); <u>see also W.S. Badcock Corp. v. Myers</u>, 696 So.2d 776 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) (certifying DUPTA and TILA class action for improper attempts to collect "non-filing fee" charge); <u>Latman v. Costa</u> <u>Cruise Lines N.V.</u>, 758 So.2d 699 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000) (certifying class action for attempts to collect inflated port charge); <u>Turner Greenburg</u> <u>Assocs., Inc. v. Pathman</u>, 885 So.2d 1004 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004) (certifying class action for attempts to collect inflated shipping charge). The debtor's reliance is not an essential element and lack of reliance does not defeats all relief.

V. THE COURT SHOULD DISMISS FOR LACK OF JURISDICTION.

To dispose of this case, the Court would have to first confirm its jurisdiction was providently invoked. Respondent would respectfully suggest that there is no "express and direct conflict ... on the same question of law" between the decision under review and another appellate decision, as required for conflict jurisdiction under Fla. Rule App. Pro. 9.030(a)(2)(iv). The ruling below, that Petitioners' mortgage reinstatement letters contained false or deceptive statements that violate the CCPA and the DUTPA and are not within any common law litigation privilege, is one of first impression in the Florida appellate courts.

The <u>Levin</u> decision is not in conflict, because it dealt with a statement made to a court, during the course of litigation, and did not involve the violation of a statutory right.

Nor did <u>Boca Investors Group, Inc. v. Potash</u>, 835 So.2d 273 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002), deal with the same question of law. The Court majority held the litigation privilege barred a statutory antitrust claim that was based on filing three lawsuits, and on "necessary preliminary" pre-suit statements, the nature of which was not discussed in the majority opinion. Judge Cope, concurring, stated that the "necessary preliminary" test is no longer the test, but clarified that the pre-suit statements there were between plaintiffs,

potential plaintiffs and counsel, and in his view, these statements had qualified immunity. <u>Potash</u>, above, at 275-76, citing <u>Fridovich</u>, above, 598 So.2d 65. Petitioners' deceptive reinstatement letters to debtors are not lawsuits or "necessary preliminaries" to lawsuits, and are not privileged either under the rationale of the <u>Potash</u> majority or under the rationale of Judge Cope's concurrence.

Moreover, the antitrust laws referenced in <u>Potash</u> are not generally intended to regulate lawsuits (absent sham litigation, under the <u>Noerr-</u> <u>Pennington</u> doctrine) or lawyers' necessary pre-suit statements to clients or potential clients. Here, the statutes expressly prohibit any person's false statements of the debt amount to a consumer debtor, and this statutory prohibition is intended to apply to lawyers.

It may be desirable in an appropriate case for this Court to clarify what privilege, if any, applies to lawyers' pre-suit deceptive statements to opponents where no statute specifically prohibits deceptive communications. In this case, however, the CCPA and DUTPA expressly prohibit the deceptive statements. No Florida appellate case addresses the same issue.

Respondents respectfully suggest that express and direct conflict on the same issue of law, as required for this Court to exercise discretionary review, is absent. Accordingly, the case should be dismissed.

CONCLUSION

The Court should dismiss the case for lack of jurisdiction, or, if the Court chooses to decide the merits, it should limit its ruling to the issue identified in its jurisdictional order, and affirm the decision below.